CASE NO. S275431

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

George Huerta, Plaintiff and Petitioner,

vs.

CSI Electrical Contractors, Inc., Defendant and Respondent.

On Certified Questions from the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit No. 21-16201

After an Appeal from the United States District Court for the Northern District of California Honorable Beth Labson Freeman, District Court Judge Case Number 5:18-CV-06761-BLF

PETITIONER GEORGE HUERTA'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

I. QUESTIONS CERTIFIED FOR DECISION BY THIS COURT

Pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 8.520(b), Petitioner George Huerta sets

forth below the questions this Court certified for its decision.

(1) Is time spent on an employer's premises in a personal vehicle and waiting to scan an identification badge, have security guards peer into the vehicle, and then exit a Security Gate compensable as "hours worked" within the meaning of California Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Order No. 16?

(2) Is time spent on the employer's premises in a personal vehicle, driving between the Security Gate and the employee parking lots, while subject to certain rules from the employer, compensable as "hours worked" or as "employer-mandated travel" within the meaning of California Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Order No. 16?

(3) Is time spent on the employer's premises, when workers are prohibited from leaving but not required to engage in employermandated activities, compensable as "hours worked" within the meaning of California Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Order No. 16, or under California Labor Code Section 1194, when that time was designated as an unpaid "meal period" under a qualifying collective bargaining agreement?

(Huerta v. CSI Electrical Contractors, Inc. (9th Cir. 2022) 39 F.4th 1176, 1177.)

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. Is time spent on an employer's premises in a personal vehicle and waiting to scan an identification badge, have security guards peer into the vehicle, and then exit a Security Gate compensable as "hours worked" within the meaning of California Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Order No. 16?

Yes. As this Court confirmed in Frlekin v. Apple Inc. (2020) 8 Cal.5th 1038 [258

Cal.Rptr.3d 392, 406–407, 457 P.3d 526, 538] ("Frlekin"), under California law, the time

spent by employees who are confined to the work premises and who wait for and undergo

a mandatory exit security process constitutes "hours worked" under the "control" prong of

the Wage Order "hours worked" definition. Here, Huerta and CSI's workers were under CSI's control when they were confined to the secured construction site and were required to wait in line for and undergo the mandatory security exit process that could last up to 30 minutes or more before being allowed to leave ("Exit Security Time"). (4-ER-889-890; ¶ 62.) At a minimum, there was at least triable issue of fact whether the control exercised over the workers during the Exit Security Time was such to make the Exit Security Time compensable.

The Exit Security Time was also time that Huerta and the workers were "suffered or permitted to work" under the "suffered or permitted to work" prong of the Wage Order "hours worked" definition because the workers' activities constitute "physical or mental exertion (whether burdensome or not) controlled or required by the employer and pursued necessarily and primarily for the benefit of the employer." (*Tennessee Coal, Iron & R. Co. v. Muscoda Local No. 123* (1944) 321 U.S. 590, 598 [64 S.Ct. 698, 703, 88 L.Ed. 949]).)

At a minimum, there was at least a triable issue of fact whether the workers were "suffered or permitted to work" during the Exit Security Time.

B. Is time spent on the employer's premises in a personal vehicle, driving between the Security Gate and the employee parking lots, while subject to certain rules from the employer, compensable as "hours worked" or as "employer-mandated travel" within the meaning of California Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Order No. 16?

Yes. With respect to Huerta's Wage Order 16 Paragraph 5(A) claim ("5(A) Claim"), Wage Order 16 required CSI to pay for "all employer-mandated travel that occurs after the first location where the employee's presence is required by the employer." Huerta submitted unrebutted evidence that CSI instructed Huerta and the workers that the first location where their presence was required was at the Security Gate where the security process occurred and that they were thereafter required to travel between the Security Gate and the required designated parking lots on the Site to work. CSI presented no contradictory evidence in either its moving papers or in its reply papers. Moreover, CSI required its workers to travel between the Security Gate and the parking lots on the Site for them to work. This travel is therefore indisputably "employer-mandated." At a minimum, there was at least a triable issue of fact whether the Security Gate was the "first location where the employee's presence is required by the employer."

With respect to the "control" theory of Huerta's Drive Time claim, it is undisputed that after passing through the mandatory security entrance process at the Security Gate to enter the secured Site, Huerta and the other workers were subject to CSI's control and were required to travel up to 45 minutes or more on a specified private road to designated parking lots from where they were transported to their daily work locations on the Site and were required to engage in the reverse of this travel at the end of the workday. (4-ER-879, ¶ 10.) From the time they entered the secured Site through the Security Gate after undergoing the mandatory security entrance process at the beginning of the day through the time they left the Site through the Security Gate after undergoing the mandatory exit security process at the end of the day, they were under CSI's control because they were confined to the Site, were subject to numerous rules and restrictions, were strictly monitored for their compliance with such rules and restrictions, and could not effectively use this time for their own personal purposes. Accordingly, just as the time spent by the workers in *Morillion v. Royal Packing Co.* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 575 (94 Cal.Rptr.2d 3, 995 P.2d 139), *as modified (May 10, 2000)* while they were confined to the employer's bus was time they were subject to the employer's control, the time spent by Huerta and the workers while they were confined to the Site was time they were subject to CSI's control and time they could not use for their personal purposes.

The Drive Time was also time that Huerta and the workers were "suffered or permitted to work" under the "suffered or permitted to work" prong of the Wage Order "hours worked" definition because CSI required the workers to drive between the Security Gate and the parking lots, which constitutes "physical or mental exertion (whether burdensome or not) controlled or required by the employer and pursued necessarily and primarily for the benefit of the employer." (*Tennessee Coal, Iron & R. Co. v. Muscoda Local No. 123* (1944) 321 U.S. 590, 598 [64 S.Ct. 698, 703, 88 L.Ed. 949]).)

At a minimum, there was at least a triable issue of fact whether the workers were under CSI's control during the Drive Time or whether the required Drive Time on the Site between the Security Gate and the parking lots was time workers were "suffered or permitted to work." C. Is time spent on the employer's premises, when workers are prohibited from leaving but not required to engage in employer-mandated activities, compensable as "hours worked" within the meaning of California Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Order No. 16, or under California Labor Code Section 1194, when that time was designated as an unpaid "meal period" under a qualifying collective bargaining agreement?

Yes. With respect to the Meal Period Time, Huerta alleged that CSI constrained him and the other workers from leaving their daily work areas during their meal periods. (6-ER-1294; ¶ 37.) Because they were constrained from leaving their daily work areas during their meal periods, they were under CSI's control during the meal periods and that the time of their meal periods constituted "hours worked" under California law for which they were entitled to be paid pursuant to Labor Code Section 1194¹ and Paragraph 4 of Wage Order 16. (6-ER-1294; ¶ 39.) (*See Bono Enterprises, Inc. v. Bradshaw* (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 968, 968–72 (38 Cal.Rptr.2d 549) *disapproved of on other grounds by Tidewater Marine Western, Inc. v. Bradshaw* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 557 (59 Cal.Rptr.2d 186, 927 P.2d 296) ("Bono").)

The fact that Huerta and the workers were subject to a collective bargaining agreement and that Section 512(e), which provides an exemption to California's meal period requirements if the employee is covered by a valid collective bargaining agreement, and Wage Order 16's provisions governing meal periods did not apply to them because

¹ Hereinafter, all statutory references are to the California Labor Code, unless otherwise indicated.

they were working under a CBA does not eviscerate their unwaivable right under California law to be paid for all "hours worked."

III. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. The Security Gate to the Site

The California Flats Solar Project ("Site") is located on the privately-owned Jack Ranch. There is only one entrance to the Site that the workers could use, which is a guarded security gate (the "Security Gate"). The Security Gate during Phase 1 of the Project was originally located on Turkey Flats Road ("Access Road") just after the intersection of the Access Road and Highway 41. Later, during Phase 2, when CSI was involved, it was moved from the original location closer to the parking lots.² (4-ER-878-79; ¶¶ 8-10.)

B. After passing through the Security Gate in the morning and until they exited the Site through the Security Gate, the workers were confined to the Site and could not use the time effectively for their own purposes.

After going through the mandatory security entrance process at the Security Gate in the morning and while driving on the Access Road to the parking lots and driving on the Access Road at the end of the day, the workers were confined to the Site and to the vehicle in which they rode and could not use the time effectively for their own purposes, such as running errands, getting something to eat, or doing other things that they could normally do outside the Site. The workers were not paid for all the time going through and traveling

² Hereinafter, all references to the Security Gate will be to the Security Gate where the mandatory entrance and exit security processes occurred.

on the Access Road between the Security Gate and the parking lots. (4-ER-888; ¶¶ 57-58; 4-ER-902; ¶¶ 49-50; 5-ER-931; ¶¶ 50-51; 4-ER-916; ¶¶ 55-56.)

C. Rules regarding entering the Site and the Access Road

The workers could not enter the Site and drive on the Access Road until the Site was opened by the security guards. They were not allowed to enter the Site until the sun had come up and the biologists had cleared the Site to be opened. (4-ER-883; ¶ 32; 4-ER-897; ¶ 27; 5-ER-926; ¶ 29; 4-ER-911-12; ¶ 32.) The workers had to be off the Site by a certain time. (4-ER-889-90; ¶ 62; 4-ER-903; ¶ 54; 5-ER-932-33; ¶ 55; 4-ER-917-18; ¶ 60.) If they left too early, drove too fast, or arrived at the Security Gate too early at the end of the day, they could be suspended or terminated. (4-ER-890; ¶ 64; 4-ER-904; ¶ 56; 5-ER-933; ¶ 57; 4-ER-918; ¶ 62.)

1. Workers were monitored while on the Access Road.

CSI personnel monitored the workers while they were driving on the Access Road to their daily work areas. (4-ER-884; ¶ 36; 4-ER-897-98; ¶ 30; 5-ER-927; ¶ 31; 4-ER-912; ¶ 35.) From the time that the workers went through the Security Gate in the morning until they went out of the Security Gate at the end of the workday, they were subject to all the Site's rules and could be terminated at any time for violating them. (4-ER-884; ¶ 37; 4-ER-898; ¶ 31; 5-ER-927; ¶ 32; 4-ER-912; ¶ 36.) The workers were subject to having their bodies, personal property, and vehicles searched at any time that they were inside the Security Gate or on the Access Road. The workers were also subject to drug and alcohol

testing at any time that they were inside the Security Gate or on the Access Road. (4-ER-884; ¶ 39; 4-ER-898; ¶ 33; 5-ER-927; ¶ 34; 4-ER-912-13; ¶ 38.)

2. The rules of the Site were applied to the Access Road.

The workers were told that all the job site rules applied to the workers once they entered the Security Gate until they left the Security Gate. (4-ER-884; ¶ 37; 4-ER-898; ¶ 31; 5-ER-927; ¶ 32; 4-ER-912; ¶ 36.) These rules included, among other rules, safety and personal protective equipment rules, discrimination rules, anti-harassment rules, environmental rules, alcohol and drug policies, rules related to being subject to searches for alcohol, drugs and other things, no smoking, no practical jokes, no horseplay rules, no gambling rules, no photography, no loud music, and other rules. (4-ER-884-85; ¶ 41.) Many of these rules were confirmed in an employee pamphlet for the Site. (4-ER-869-76.)

3. The specific rules of the Access Road

The workers were also told about specific "rules of the road" that applied to the Access Road. These rules were in addition to signs that were posted before and after the workers entered the Security Gate and in materials that they were given for the job Site. (4-ER-884; ¶ 38; 4-ER-898; ¶ 32; 5-ER-927; ¶ 33; 4-ER-912; ¶ 35.) The workers were suspended or terminated for things they did wrong on the Access Road, such as exceeding the speed limit. Some of these rules are described in detail below.

a) Speed limits

There were signs with low speed limits (5 to 20 mph) posted on the Access Road. CSI personnel monitored the workers' activities and the speeds of vehicles on the Access Road. There were also speed radar machines and cameras installed along the Access Road, including digital signs that would show workers how fast they were going. If the workers violated the speed limits or "rules of the road" or other job Site rules, they would be suspended or terminated. (4-ER-885; ¶¶ 44-45; 4-ER-899; ¶ 38; 5-ER-928; ¶ 39; 4-ER-913-14; ¶¶ 43-44.)

b) Passing

The workers were not allowed to pass another moving vehicle for any reason while on the Access Road except when a car had broken down or pulled over to the side of the road. (4-ER-886; ¶ 47; 4-ER-900; ¶ 40; 5-ER-929; ¶ 41; 4-ER-914; ¶ 46.)

c) Animals

The workers were not allowed to disturb the cattle or local wildlife in any way while driving on the Access Road. If they saw animals on or near the Access Road, they had to let them do whatever they needed to do and were not allowed to do anything to attempt to get them to move off the Access Road. They had to slow down or stop their vehicles and stay in their vehicles and wait for the animals to move away from the road. The workers were not allowed to touch or feed the local wildlife or cattle on the Site or along the Access Road. The workers were not supposed to honk their horns while driving on the Access Road because the horns could disturb the local wildlife and the cattle. The workers were on the Access Road because the noise from the music could also disturb the local wildlife and the cattle while they were on the Access Road because the noise from the music could also disturb the local wildlife and the cattle while they were on the Access Road because the noise from the music could also disturb the local wildlife and the cattle. (4-ER-886-87; ¶¶ 49-50; 4-ER-900-01; ¶¶ 42-43; 5-ER-929-30; ¶ 43-44; 4-ER-

914-15; ¶¶ 48-49.) The workers could not wear ear buds or ear pods while driving on the Access Road. (4-ER-887; ¶ 51.)

d) Staying on and stopping on the Access Road and traveling to designated parking lots

Once the workers were released to drive on the Access Road in the morning and at the end of the day, they were required to drive directly on the Access Road to their assigned parking lot in the morning and from their assigned parking lot back to the Security Gate at the end of the day and were required to stay on the Access Road. (4-ER-887; ¶ 54; 4-ER-901; ¶ 46; 5-ER-930-31; ¶ 47; 4-ER-916; ¶ 52.) The workers were required to strictly follow the "rules of the road" and keep the flow of traffic constantly moving on the Access Road. Except for emergencies, workers were not allowed to stop on the Access Road at any places that were not specifically designated. (4-ER-888; ¶ 55; 4-ER-901-02; ¶ 47; 5-ER-931; ¶ 48; 4-ER-916; ¶ 53.) If the workers had to get out of their vehicles for any reason, they were not allowed to go outside of the boundary fences, stakes, and ribbons that ran about 15 feet or so along the sides of the Access Road. If they had to get out of their vehicles along the Access Road for any reason, they could not disturb the environment, such as trampling or disturbing any plants. (4-ER-888; ¶ 56; 4-ER-902; ¶ 48; 5-ER-931; ¶ 49; 4-ER-916; ¶ 54.)

e) Smoking

The workers were not allowed to smoke either inside or outside of their vehicles while they were driving on the Access Road or inside or outside of their vehicles in the parking lot. (4-ER-887; ¶ 53; 4-ER-901; ¶ 45; 5-ER-930; ¶ 46; 4-ER-915; ¶ 51.)

D. The Mandatory Exit Security Process

To exit the Site, all workers had to drive from the designated parking lots on the Site to the Security Gate on the Access Road. When they were traveling from the designated parking lots on the Site to the Security Gate at the end of the day, they could not pass other vehicles and had to wait in line for their turn to go through the exit security process, vehicle-by-vehicle, at the Security Gate. When a vehicle arrived at the front of the line at the Security Gates at the end of the day, the vehicle was required to stop at the Security Gate and wait until a security guard conducted the exit security process. The workers were required to roll down their windows and present their security identification badges for review and scanning by a security guard. All drivers and passengers in a vehicle had to do the same thing. The workers were not allowed to leave the Site until they completed the exit security process at the Security Gate and the security guards allowed them to pass through the Security Gate and leave the Site. (4-ER-888-89; ¶ 59; 4-ER-902-03; ¶ 51; 5-ER-931-32; ¶ 52; 4-ER-917; ¶ 57.)

If a worker did not have a security identification badge at the time that the worker wanted to exit the Site through the Security Gate, the worker had to pull out of line and go into the security guard shack at the Security Gate to be released before being allowed to exit the Site. (4-ER-889; ¶ 60; 4-ER-903; ¶ 52; 5-ER-932; ¶ 53; 4-ER-917; ¶ 58.)

During the mandatory exit security process, security guards looked inside the workers' vehicles through the windows. They also inspected the bed of any pickup trucks. When the vehicles had more than one person, security guards looked in the vehicles to see how many people were in the vehicles and confirmed that the identification badges matched the people in the vehicles. (4-ER-889; \P 61; 4-ER-903; \P 53; 5-ER-932; \P 54; 4-ER-917; \P 59.)

It was the policy of the Site that the security guards were required to look in the vehicles and truck beds during the exit process. The California Flats Solar, LLC, Site Health & Safety Plan, Attachment D, Security Plan for the Site provides as follows:

2. Security Guards

<u>Vehicle Inspections</u> - Security personnel will consistently inspect any vehicle that has entered the project Site upon exiting. Security is required to check back seats, back of trucks, and periodically to check trunks of cars. ... (4-ER-864.)

CSI's designated Rule 30(b)(6) witness confirmed in his deposition that the California Flats Solar, LLC, Site Health & Safety Plan was provided by First Solar (the general contractor) to CSI for the project. (4-ER-859-861, 84:23-86:3.) In addition, the contract between CSI and First Solar incorporates this Site Health and Safety Plan as an

exhibit and requires that CSI comply with all aspects of that plan. (4-ER-867-68 ¶3.9.)

CSI enforced this policy:

- "During the mandatory exit security process, security guards looked inside the workers' vehicles through the windows. They also inspected the bed of any pickup trucks. When the vehicles had more than one person, security guards looked in the vehicles to see how many people were in the vehicles and confirmed that the identification badges matched the people in the vehicles." (4-ER-889; ¶ 61; 4-ER-903; ¶ 53; 5-ER-932; ¶ 54; 4-ER-917; ¶ 59.)
- "I was told by CSI management at my orientation that as part of the security entrance and exit process, the security guards had the right to look inside and search any workers vehicle at any time. There was

also a sign on the Solar Site that said any vehicle on their property is subject to search and seizure. We were told that we were subject to being searched if the security guards thought a workers might be stealing tools or supplies. . . . I have seen the security guards search a vehicle during the security process at the guard shack." (5-ER-926; ¶¶ 26, 27)

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