CASE NO. S275431

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

GEORGE HUERTA,

Plaintiff and Petitioner,

v.

CSI ELECTRICAL CONTRACTORS, INC., Defendant and Respondent

On Certified Questions from the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit No. 21-16201

After an Appeal from the United States District Court for the Northern District of California Honorable Beth Labson Freeman, District Court Judge Case Number 5:18-CV-06761-BLF

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FORD & HARRISON LLP

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

CSI was retained to perform procurement, installation, construction, and testing services on the Project, which was located on Jack Ranch—private

property in Monterey County (5-ER-1009.) Plaintiff worked on the Project, and was assigned to assist CSI in its work. (6-ER-1247-1248, 6-ER-1261.)

A. <u>Plaintiff Drove A Vehicle From The Entrance Of The Project</u> <u>Directly To A Parking Lot</u>

In order to access the Project, Plaintiff passed a guard shack at the perimeter of the Project ("Project Entrance"). (5-ER-1009.) The Project Entrance opened each morning when a biologist cleared the road at sunrise, after which Plaintiff passed the Project Entrance without stopping and traveled down the road ("Access Road"), where the speed limit was 20 miles per hour after sunrise and 10 miles per hour before sunrise. (3-ER-490-491.)

After traveling 5.9 miles on the Access Road, Plaintiff stopped at a guard shack and presented a badge for an attendant to scan ("Badging Gate"). (5-ER-1009.) Plaintiff never left his vehicle and never gave his badge to the attendant. (*Id.*) Instead, Plaintiff kept his badge on his person, only presenting it to be scanned. (*Id.*) At the Badging Gate, several attendants simultaneously processed two lanes of cars. (*Id.*) After passing the Badging Gate, Plaintiff continued traveling down the Access Road until he reached a parking lot ("Parking Lot"). (*Id.*)

B. <u>The Rules Of The Project</u>

The California Department of Fish and Wildlife ("CDFW") required a permit before work on the Project began. (5-ER-1010, 5-ER-1016-1047.) The CDFW imposed rules on the Project because of two endangered species: San Joaquin Kit Fox and California Tiger Salamander. (5-ER-1010, 5-ER-1020.) Under the California Endangered Species Act, an Incidental Take Permit ("ITP") was required because of the Project's expected effect on these endangered species. (5-ER-1010, 5-ER-1020.1022.)

The ITP required a biologist to monitor the Project to "help minimize and fully mitigate or avoid the incidental take of Covered Species, minimizing disturbance of Covered Species' habitat." (5-ER-1010, 5-ER-1023-1024.) The ITP required "an education program for all persons employed...before performing any work," which "consist[ed] of a presentation from the Designated Biologist that includes a discussion of the biology and general behavior of the Covered Species, information about the distribution and habitat needs of the Covered Species, [and] sensitivity of the Covered Species to human activities." (5-ER-1010, 5-ER-1024.)

The ITP required the Project to "clearly delineate habitat of the Covered Species within the [Project] with posted signs, posting stakes, flags, and/or rope or cord, and place fencing as necessary to minimize the disturbance of Covered Species' habitat." (5-ER-1010, 5-ER-1026.) The ITP strictly set out the boundaries of the Project: "Project-related personnel shall access the [Project] using existing routes, or new routes identified in the Project Description and shall not cross Covered Species' habitat outside of or en route to the Project." (*Id.*) The ITP restricted "Project-related vehicle traffic to established roads, staging, and parking areas," and "that vehicle speeds do not exceed 20 miles per hour to avoid Covered Species on or traversing the roads." (*Id.*)

In CSI's contract with the General Contractor, it needed to observe all of these rules and ensure its employees did too. (5-ER-1010-1011.) CSI agreed that it will "ensure that the wildlife and the burrows/dens/nests of such are not touched by anyone other than the biological Compliance Monitor." (5-ER-1011, 5-ER-1097.)

C. <u>Plaintiff Was Provided A 30-Minute Lunch Each Day In</u> Accordance With Two Collective Bargaining Agreements

Plaintiff was "a member of the Operating Engineers Local 3" and was "dispatched" to the Project by that union. (5-ER-1009, 5-ER-1011, 5-ER-1104-1105, 6-ER-1246.) Plaintiff's employment on the Project was governed by two CBAs: the Operating Engineers Local Union No. 3 ("Operating Engineers Master Agreement") and the Project Labor Agreement specific to the Project ("Cal Flats PLA"). (5-ER-1011.) Plaintiff received one 30-minute unpaid meal break each shift. (3-ER-498, 4-ER-632, 4-ER-708, 6-ER-1250-1254.)

III. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On March 4, 2021, CSI moved for partial summary judgment on certain of Plaintiff's **individual claims**, which the district court granted on April 28, 2021. (1-ER-10-30.) On June 8, 2021, CSI moved again for partial summary judgment on Plaintiff's other **individual claims**, which the district court granted on June 25, 2021. (1-ER-5-9.) Both motions disposed of all of Huerta's individual claims that are before this Court.

IV. <u>PLAINTIFF'S TIME SPENT TRAVELING ON THE PROJECT</u> <u>BEFORE WORK AND AFTER WORK IS NOT COMPENSABLE</u> <u>BECAUSE HE WAS REQUIRED TO FOLLOW ONLY PATH OF</u> <u>TRAVEL RULES AND GENERAL RULES PROHIBITING</u> <u>CERTAIN CONDUCT ON THE PREMISES</u>

Under Plaintiff's theory of liability, unless they are permitted to race their cars through an employer's parking lot, then employees must be paid from the moment that they drive onto the employer's premises. Plaintiff's theory of liability also requires employees to be paid for all time on the employer's premises unless they are permitted to loiter, litter, or smoke. Plaintiff is essentially challenging an employer's right to enforce rules on its property against employees during the time that they navigate those premises before and after work unless it pays employees during that time. This theory of liability is absurd and would wreak havoc on all workplaces in California.

A. <u>Travelling On An Employer's Premises Before And After</u> <u>Work Is Generally Not Compensable</u>

Time clocks are often located in remote areas of an employer's property. Merely because an employee crosses the threshold of an employer's premises does not entitle him to be paid for every minute spent on those premises. This is true even though he may spend dozens of minutes finding a parking space, walking to an elevator, navigating his way through other departments, and finding the time clock for his work area. No matter how much time this process takes, none of it is compensable.

1. Federal law expressly excludes as wages time employees spend traveling on the employer's premises before the start of work and after the end of work

In Anderson, 328 U.S. 680, the Supreme Court issued a decision that immediately spurred Congress to amend the FLSA to repeal the ruling. In *Anderson*, employees worked on a "plant [that] covers more than eight acres of ground and is about a quarter of a mile in length." *Id.*, at 682. The employer did not compensate employees for dozens of minutes per day that constituted "walking time." The Court interpreted the FLSA to require compensation for these employees because "it was necessary for them to be on the premises for some time prior and subsequent to the scheduled working hours." *Id.*, at 690. The Court reasoned that "[s]ince the statutory workweek includes all time during which an employee is **necessarily required to be on the employer's premises**...the time spent in these activities must be accorded appropriate compensation." *Id.*, at 690-91 (emphasis added).

As the Supreme Court reflected in retrospect, the *Anderson* decision "provoked a flood of litigation. In the six months following [*Anderson*], unions and employees filed more than 1,500 lawsuits under the FLSA." *Integrity Staffing Solutions, Inc.*, 574 U.S. 27, 31-32 (2014). "These suits sought nearly \$6 billion in back pay and liquidated damages for various preshift and postshift activities." *Id.* "Congress responded swiftly." *Id.* "Congress met this emergency with the Portal-to-Portal Act," which "exempted employers from liability for future claims based on…walking, riding, or traveling to and from the actual place of perform." *Id.*, 516-17 (quoting 29 U.S.C. § 254)(a)).

This amendment declared time spent traveling on an employer's premises before and after work is non-compensable. *See IBP v. Alvarez*, 546

U.S. 21, 41 (2005) (time walking from "the factory gate to a workstation is certainly necessary for employees to begin their work, but it is indisputable that the Portal-to-Portal Act evinces Congress' intent to repudiate *Anderson*'s holding that such walking time was compensable under the FLSA").

2. California responded just as swiftly to similarly amend its laws in response to *Anderson*

Before *Anderson*, California law compensated employees for "hours employed," which included "all times during which…an employee is **required to be on the employer's premises."** Wage Orders, § 2 (emphasis added). (2-ER-151, 2-ER-165, 2-ER-233-236, 2-ER-251-252.) The decision in *Anderson* was issued on June 10, 1946, and the Portal-to-Portal Act was enacted on May 14, 1947. *Glenn v. Southern Cal. Edison*, 187 F.2d 318, 319 (9th Cir. 1951).

Just a few weeks later, on June 1, 1947, California abandoned the term "hours employed" and adopted the federal term, "hours worked." In the 1947 amendment, the state removed the term "required to be on the employer's premises," and adopted a definition that provided that "'Hours Worked' means the time during which an employee is subject to the control of an employer and includes all the time the employee is suffered or permitted to work, whether or not required to do so." Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8 § 11140, Subd. 2(G) (2-ER-151, 2-ER-165, 2-ER-238-249, 2-ER-251-252.)

This deletion is particularly significant because the *Anderson* Court had held that "all time during which an employee is necessarily required to be on the employer's premises...must be accorded appropriate compensation," and proceeded to award employees compensation for time they spent "walking to work on the employer's premises" at the beginning and end of their shifts. *Anderson*, 328 U.S. at 690-92. California's removal of "required to be on the employer's premises" from the definition of "hours employed" just after *Anderson* and just after Congress acted is substantial evidence that California, like Congress, also rejected *Anderson*'s holding that traveling on the

employer's premises before and after work should be compensated. *See*, *e.g.*, *People v. Martinez*, 132 Cal. App. 3d 119, 148, n4 (1982) ("It is hornbook law that the Legislature is presumed to know the decisions of appellate courts and to have them in mind when amending statutes which the courts have construed.").¹

B. <u>CSI Did Not Exert The Necessary Level Of Control Over</u> <u>Plaintiff During The Drive To Make It Compensable</u>

Against this statutory backdrop and general presumption against compensating employees for traveling on the employer's premises before and after work, California will nevertheless compel compensation for such travel if the employer exerts a sufficient level of control over the employee during the travel. Plaintiff describes the different rules and conditions on the Project that subjected him to "control" and impeded his progress to his work station. (Petitioner's Opening Brief ("POB") at 13-16.) None of these rules, however, even cumulatively, establish a level of control that requires compensation.

¹ In Morillion v. Royal Packing, 22 Cal. 4th 575, 591-92 (2000), the defendant argued that an employer compelled bus ride was not compensable because California law patterned itself after the Portal-to-Portal Act, which declared such commute time, even if required by the employer, noncompensable. This Court, however, disagreed, and held that, in 1947, California had added that time under an employer's "control" was compensable, meaning that employer mandated bus time must be paid for. Morillion's rejection of federal law in that case, however, is not instructive here. This Court did not hold or even suggest that California law is unlike the Portal-to-Portal Act in all respects or that California law is always different. The court in Morillion, rather, merely held that federal law is irrelevant where, as in that case, the employer exerts the requisite "level of control" over an employee. Morillion, 22 Cal. 4th at 587. As explained below, Plaintiff was not "controlled" on the Drive like the employees in Morillion, and, therefore, California law, after Anderson, should be interpreted in accordance with federal law in this narrow respect: travel on an employer's premises before and after work is noncompensable.

1. The rules that Plaintiff had to follow on the Drive were either Path of Travel or Prohibitory Rules

Plaintiff contends that he was subject to two types of rules on the Drive. First, Plaintiff cites to rules establishing and regulating the path of travel to his work station: speed limits, no passing other vehicles, drive directly to work station, no stopping, and signs warning drivers about animal crossings ("Path of Travel Rules"). (POB at 13-16.) Second, Plaintiff complains about the following rules that prohibited certain conduct at all times on the Project: "discrimination rules, anti-harassment rules, environmental rules, alcohol and drug policies," "no smoking, no practical jokes, no horseplay rules, no gambling rules, no photography, [and] no loud music" ("Prohibitory Rules") (POB at 14.)

2. Prohibitory and Path of Travel Rules that an employee must respect while traveling on an employer's premises before and after work do not constitute compensable control

Traveling on an employer's premises before starting work **always** entails **some level of control**—an employee cannot do whatever he or she wants, an employee can do only one thing (report to work), and there are certain rules of conduct that do not follow an employee outside those premises. However, an employee's mere presence at the work site does not automatically entitle him to compensation, even though the employee must obey many rules while on those premises.

a. The level of control, and not the mere presence of control, determines if time is compensable

An employer is not required to compensate employees whenever an employer exerts some "control" over them. The touchstone for the inquiry is whether an employer exercises a sufficient "level of control" over an employee. This Court acknowledged that it is "**[t]he level of the employer's control** over its employees, rather than the mere fact that the employer requires the employees' activity, [that] is determinative." *Morillion*, 22 Cal. 4th at 587 (emphasis added). *See also Frlekin v. Apple*, 8 Cal. 5th 1038, 1051 ("the level

of Apple's control over its employees [is] the 'determinative' factor in analyzing whether time is compensable under the control standard").

b. Path of Travel Rules do not constitute compensable control while employees travel on the employer's premises before and after work

Once an employee enters an employer's premises for work, an employer may insist that the employee proceed directly and safely to her work station along a particular path. If the right of an employer not to pay employees navigating their way to their work stations before and after work means anything, it has to include the right to insist on Path of Travel Rules. Otherwise, on the way to their work stations, while on the employer's premises, employees could speed their cars through parking lots, slide down stair bannisters, access restricted areas, run through dangerous areas, loiter, and jump in front of oncoming traffic.

Employees, therefore, can be compelled to follow rules regarding the pace they can travel (no running), and the mode they can travel (no bikes or roller skates). Employees can be restricted in their movement on an employer's premises, including rules about areas they can and cannot enter, and rules regarding the pathways they must follow.

Here, none of the Path of Travel Rules Plaintiff complains about required him to do anything other than report directly to his work station safely, and they were all reasonably related to regulating traffic. Stop signs and speed bumps, for example, slow employees down while traveling on an employer's premises before work. An employer in the midst of inclement weather, moreover, may take safety measures, such as drastically reducing automobile speeds, closing lanes, and directing traffic.

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